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Toronto Court File No. CV-18-594281-0000
(Originally Brantford Court File No: 406/95)

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

SIX NATIONS OF THE GRAND RIVER BAND OF INDIANS
Plaintiff

-and -

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA and
HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO
Defendants

NOTICE OF MOTION

The moving party and proposed intervenor Mississaugas of the Credit First
Nation will make a motion for leave to intervene to the Court on May 12, 2023, at

a time and location to be determined by the case management judge.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard by video

conference, details to be provided.

THE MOTION IS FOR:

1. An order under Rule 13.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.0O. 1990,
Reg. 194 granting Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation leave to intervene as

an added party in the above-captioned action (“Action’) with the full rights of a

party;

2. An order requiring the parties to the Action to, within 15 days, provide counsel

for Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation all documents exchanged between



the parties in the Action to date, inclusive of productions, discovery transcripts
or questions and answers on written examination for discovery, expert reports
and documents referred to therein, and orders and endorsements of this

Honourable Court;

Costs of this motion; and

Such further relief as Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation may request and

this Honourable Court deems just.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:

A.

Overview

Since the 1600s and at least until the assertion of Crown sovereignty,
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation or its predecessors (together, “MCFN”)
exclusively occupied, used, and controlled its territory within what is now
southern and southwestern Ontario (“MCFN Territory””). MCFN continues to

use, occupy, and exercise rights across MCFN Territory to the present day.

In the decades following the Royal Proclamation of 1763, MCFN and the Crown
entered into a series of treaties under which the Crown purchased lands from
MCEFN to accommodate the influx of settlers, including loyalists fleeing the

United States following the American Revolution, arriving in MCFN Territory.

These loyalists included the predecessor of Six Nations of the Grand River Band
of Indians (“Six Nations”) who had fought with the British in the American

Revolution. After the war, Six Nations found the new international border put
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their territory under American control. In recognition of Six Nations’ support
during the American Revolution, the Crown offered to resettle Six Nations in

the Grand River Valley in MCFN Territory.

To resettle Six Nations in Ontario, the Crown had to first purchase the Grand
River Valley from the Indigenous title-holder: MCFN. In 1784, MCFN and the
Crown entered into the Between the Lakes Purchase under which the Crown
purchased lands between Lake Erie and Lake Huron from MCFN, including the
Grand River Valley. The Crown then granted six miles on either side of the
Grand River to Six Nations under the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784

(“Haldimand Tract”).

In 1995, Six Nations commenced an action against the Attorney General of
Canada (“Canada”) and Her Majesty the Queen (now His Majesty the King) in
Right of Ontario (“Ontario”, together with Six Nations and Canada,

the “Parties”) seeking relief arising from the disposition or mismanagement of
certain lands within the Haldimand Tract. Six Nations, Canada, and Ontario all
plead and rely on the history, rights, interests, and treaties of MCFN in support

of their respective positions.

Six Nations alleges in its pleadings that its history in Ontario is deep and
enduring. It asserts rights under section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982
(“Section 35) within MCFN Territory and asserts MCFN agreed to extinguish
certain rights in the same area. Canada and Ontario present a contrasting view,

pleading MCFN has deeper historical connections in Ontario and expelled the
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13.
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15.

Haudenosaunee, one of whose successors is Six Nations, from the territory in
the late 1600s. Ontario and Canada rely on the Crown’s treaties with MCFN as a
defence to Six Nations’ allegations. In this battle between the Crown and Six

Nations, MCFN and its rights, history, and treaties are caught in the crossfire.

MCEFN seeks leave to intervene in the Action as an added party, with the full

rights of a party, to defend its rights and interests.

The history, rights, and interests of MCFN

MCEFN is an Indigenous community of Anishinaabe people and is one of the
“aboriginal peoples of Canada” within the meaning of Section 35. MCFN is also

a “band” within the meaning of s. 2(1) of the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, s. I-5.

i. MCEFN occupied its territory in what is now southern and
southwestern Ontario prior to the assertion of Crown sovereignty

Long before the assertion of Crown sovereignty, MCFN and other communities
of Anishinaabe people occupied territory in what is now Ontario. This territory
included lands north and west of Lake Ontario as well as lands along Georgian

Bay and the north shore of Lake Huron.

MCFN was seasonally migrant and used this territory for hunting, fishing,
gathering, healing, cultural activities, and other purposes. Like other Indigenous

communities at the time, MCFN participated in the commercial fur trade.

By the 1600s, the Haudenosaunee—one of whose successors is Six Nations—

whose territory was situated entirely south of Lake Ontario and east of the
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20.

Niagara River in what is now the state of New York, had nearly exhausted the

beaver population within their territory.

In or around 1650, the Haudenosaunee launched an invasion into what is now
Ontario to expand their hunting grounds and secure continued participation in

the commercial fur trade.

During the following decades, MCFN and other communities of Anishinaabe
people launched a coordinated campaign to repel the Haudenosaunee invaders.

The ensuing conflict is known as the “Beaver Wars.”

In or around 1695, MCFN defeated the Haudenosaunee, which completely
withdrew from what is now Ontario and returned to its territory south of Lake

Ontario and east of the Niagara River in what is now the state of New York.

From that time, MCFN exclusively occupied MCFN Territory, which extends
from the Rouge River Valley in the east, across to the headwaters of the Thames
River in the west, down to Long Point on Lake Erie and back along the shores of
Lake Erie, the Niagara River, and Lake Ontario to the Rouge River Valley.

MCEFN Territory includes the Grand River Valley.

In or around 1701, the conclusion of the “Beaver Wars” was memorialized in
two agreements: the Dish with One Spoon and the Great Peace of Montreal. At
the same time, the Haudenosaunee signed an agreement with the British at
Albany, New York—the Nanfan Deed of 1701—seeking British protection over

the very territory they had just failed to conquer.
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Among other things, the Dish with One Spoon and the Great Peace of Montreal
governed terms upon which the Haudenosaunee could pass through and use
MCEFN Territory; namely, with MCFN consent. They did not recognize, grant,
or protect any legal interest of the Haudenosaunee in the lands comprising

MCFN Territory.

ii. MCEFN possesses treaty rights with respect to MCFN Territory

At all relevant times, the Crown recognized MCFN as the sole Indigenous

people with title to and control over lands within MCFN Territory.

Beginning in the late 18th century, MCFN and the Crown entered into a series
of treaties within the meaning of Section 35 respecting lands within MCFN

Territory, including the Grand River Valley, including, but not limited to:

a) In 1781, the Treaty at Niagara respecting certain lands on the west bank
of the Niagara River from the shore of Lake Erie to the shore of Lake

Ontario;

b) In 1784 and 1792, the Between the Lakes Purchase and Purchase No. 3,
respectively, respecting certain lands between Lake Erie and Lake

Huron, including the Haldimand Tract;

c) In 1795 and 1797, the Brant Tract No. 3% and Treaty No. 8§,
respectively, respecting certain lands at and around Burlington Bay

ultimately transferred by the Crown to Six Nations leader Joseph Brant;
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d)

g)

In 1805, the Toronto Purchase No. 13 respecting certain lands in and

around what is now Toronto;

In 1806, the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14 respecting certain lands in

and around what is now Toronto, Mississauga, Oakville, and Burlington;

In 1818, the Ajetance Treaty No. 19 respecting certain lands north of

those lands contemplated under the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14; and

In 1820, Treaties No. 22 and 23 respecting certain lands along Bronte
Creek and 16 Mile Creek in what is now Oakville and the Credit River in

what is now Mississauga.

The Crown has never entered into a treaty within the meaning of Section 35 with

any other Indigenous peoples within or respecting MCFN Territory, including

Six Nations or its predecessors.

il

MCEFN possesses Aboriginal rights with respect to MCFN Territory

MCEFN possesses certain rights protected under Section 35 as Aboriginal rights

flowing from its historic and contemporary use, occupation, and control of

MCEFN Territory that have not been addressed in its treaties with the Crown,

including, but not limited to, self-government, harvesting rights, and Aboriginal

title to certain lands and waters within MCFN Territory.
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iv. MCEFN and the Crown are engaged in negotiations and other
processes to determine, recognize, and respect its rights and claims

In recent years, MCFN has entered into various agreements with Canada and
Ontario establishing confidential negotiations and other processes to settle
MCFN’s outstanding claims and in furtherance of the Crown’s treaty and other
constitutional obligations to MCFN. The scope and content of these processes
are determined, in part, by MCFN’s Aboriginal and treaty rights, its outstanding
claims against the Crown, and the scope and content of the Crown’s duties to

MCEFN that flow from the honour of the Crown.

The Action engages the rights and interests of MCFN

On March 7, 1995, Six Nations commenced the Action against Canada and
Ontario. Six Nations seeks relief arising from the disposition or mismanagement
of certain lands within the Haldimand Tract, a piece of land situated within
MCFN Territory on lands subject to one or more of the treaties between MCFN
and the Crown. The statement of claim has been amended several times, most

recently on May 20, 2020.

On April 1, 2022, Six Nations delivered certain expert reports to Canada and
Ontario, including (a) the report of Dr. Jon Parmenter, dated March 2022; (b) the
report of Dr. Alan Taylor, dated March 28, 2022; and (c) the report of

Dr. Reginald Good, dated March 30, 2022 (“Six Nations Expert Reports”).
Canada and Ontario have delivered or will deliver expert reports in accordance

with the timetable set by this Honourable Court.
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The Parties’ pleadings and the Six Nations Expert Reports raise legal issues and

make factual assertions that engage and expressly rely on MCFN’s history,

rights, and interests, including:

a)

the historic use, occupation, and control of what is now southern and

southwestern Ontario by Anishinaabeg—including MCFN—and

Haudenosaunee peoples, and rights, title, or Crown duties flowing

therefrom, including, for example:

i)

iii)

whether, from time immemorial, Six Nations or its predecessors
occupied, possessed, or used territories in what is now Ontario
and Quebec and whether such territories comprise Six Nations’

“aboriginal lands”;

whether Six Nations or its predecessors intermittently occupied

lands within what is now Ontario in the 1600s;

whether, during the 1640s and 1650s, Six Nations or its
predecessors conquered and acquired sovereignty over what is
now southern and southwestern Ontario, including the Grand

River Valley;

whether MCFN drove Six Nations or its predecessors from
certain lands within what is now Ontario in the latter part of the

1600s;



b)

Vi)

vii)

10

10

whether, from at least the early 1700s, the lands south of the
headwaters of the Grand River to Lake Erie were occupied and

used by MCFN;

whether Six Nations or its predecessors first migrated to the

Haldimand Tract in or around 1784;

whether the Haldimand Tract or any portion thereof, including
land covered by water, was or is held by Six Nations or its

predecessors as Aboriginal title or sovereign territory;

the nature, scope, and meaning of agreements between Anishinaabeg—

including MCFN—and Haudenosaunee peoples with respect to lands in

what is now southern and southwestern Ontario, including, for example:

whether MCFN and Six Nations or its predecessors agreed to
share certain lands, including sovereignty over those lands,
within what is now southern and southwestern Ontario, including

under the Dish with One Spoon or the Great Peace of Montreal;

the legal status, interpretation, and effect of agreements between Six

Nations or its predecessors and the Crown relating to lands within

MCEFN Territory, and whether such agreements are treaties within the

meaning of Section 35, including, for example:

i)

whether the Nanfan Deed of 1701 is a treaty within the meaning

of Section 35;



iii)

vi)

11

11

whether, under the Nanfan Deed of 1701, the Crown

(a) recognized certain lands of Six Nations or its predecessors for
hunting, trapping, fishing, and trading within what is now
Ontario, including the Haldimand Tract; (b) undertook to protect
those lands on behalf of Six Nations or its predecessors; and

(c) guaranteed the sovereignty and ownership of Six Nations or

its predecessors over those lands;

whether the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784 is a treaty within

the meaning of Section 35;

whether the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784 represents the
deferred fulfillment by the Crown of a portion of its

commitments under the Nanfan Deed of 1701;

whether the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784 recognized (a) the
sovereign nationhood of Six Nations or its predecessors; or
(b) the Haldimand Tract as Six Nations’ or its predecessors’

sovereign territory;

whether any agreements, including treaties under Section 35, if
any, between Six Nations or its predecessors and the Crown have

any effect on the Section 35 rights and other interests of MCFN;
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d) the interpretation of treaties and agreements entered into between MCFN
and the Crown, and Crown duties flowing therefrom, including, for

example:

1) whether, in 1784, the Crown purchased certain lands from MCFN
and whether such purchase was linked to the Haldimand

Proclamation or the Simcoe Patent of 1793;

i1) whether, in 1784, MCFN, Six Nations, and the Crown entered
into a tripartite treaty under which (a) MCFN executed a
quitclaim in favour of Six Nations or its predecessors; and
(b) MCFN agreed to cease exercising customary hunting and

ancillary rights within the Haldimand Tract; and

1) whether, in 1792, MCFN executed a quitclaim in favour of Six

Nations or its predecessors.

MCFN satisfies the requirements to be added as a party to the Action

MCEFN has an interest in the subject matter of the Action and MCFN may be

adversely affected by a judgment in the Action.

The Action squarely deals with lands within MCFN Territory. The Action
directly engages the history, rights, and interests of MCFN, including its historic
use and occupation of MCFN Territory and its treaties with the Crown. The

Parties expressly and repeatedly plead and rely on historical and contemporary
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facts relating to MCFN, including MCFN’s treaties and other agreements with

the Crown.

The Six Nations Expert Reports purport to interpret MCFN’s treaties with the
Crown and assert that in those treaties MCFN agreed to surrender certain rights
within the Haldimand Tract as well as opine on MCFN history within MCFN

Territory.

There is a significant likelihood that the Action will make factual findings about
MCFN’s history, treaties, and rights and that it will make legal determinations
about the scope and meaning of MCFN’s treaties with the Crown or its rights
under Section 35. As defendants in the Action, MCFN’s treaty partners—
Canada and Ontario—would be bound by findings of fact and law in relation to
these issues. This would unavoidably impact the continuing relationship
between MCFN and the Crown, both in respect of the Crown’s discharge of its
constitutional obligations to MCFN and how MCFN and the Crown resolve
MCFN’s outstanding claims and how MCFN builds its future within MCFN

Territory based on its constitutional rights.

Moreover, findings of fact or conclusions of law with respect to any asserted
Aboriginal or treaty rights of Six Nations within the heart of MCFN Territory
would necessarily—and likely adversely—impact MCFN’s ability to exercise its
rights and jurisdictions, including MCFN’s right of self-government and

jurisdiction as steward of its traditional lands.
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MCEFN would introduce Elder and expert evidence

As an Indigenous community of Anishinaabe people with Aboriginal and treaty
rights in relation to southern and southwestern Ontario, MCFN would introduce
Elder and expert evidence on issues that engage its rights and interests,
including, but not limited to (a) the history of MCFN in what is now southern
and southwestern Ontario, including the historical relationship between MCFN
and Six Nations or its predecessors; and (b) the history of treaty making between

MCEFN, Six Nations or its predecessors, and the Crown.

This evidence is necessary for this Honourable Court to adjudicate effectively
and completely the factual and legal issues in the Action. As the rights holder,
MCFN—and not Canada or Ontario—is best positioned to adduce such

evidence.

MCFN’s participation would not prejudice the Parties

On January 6, 2022, MCFN wrote to the Honourable Justice Sanfilippo, the case
management judge at that time, advising that “[t]he Six Nations Action has the
potential to adversely impact MCFN’s Aboriginal and treaty rights protected by
s. 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982.” MCFN requested an invitation to attend
case management conferences in the Action as an observer for the purpose of
ascertaining how, if at all, the issues in the Action may impact its rights and
interests. As set out in the case management endorsements of January 24, 2022,

and March 1, 2022, both Canada and Ontario advised they consented to
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MCFN’s attendance at case management conferences; Six Nations refused to

provide its consent.

In its case management endorsement of March 1, 2022, the Court directed the
question of MCFN’s attendance at case management conferences should be
deferred until after the completion of the development of an issues list by the
Parties. Despite the passage of over ten months since MCFN wrote to the Court,
and the subsequent service of the Six Nations Expert Reports in April 2022, the

issues list has not been completed.

The factual and legal issues introduced by the Parties engage and may adversely
impact the rights of MCFN. The participation of MCFN is necessary for this

Honourable Court to adjudicate effectively and completely the factual and legal
issues set out above and would outweigh any prejudice potentially caused by its

intervention in the Action.

MCEFN seeks all the rights of a party

MCEFN seeks all the rights of a party to the Action.

Statutes, rules, and regulations relied on

Rules 1.04, 1.05, 2.01, 13.01, 37, and 50.13 of the Rules of Civil Procedure,

R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194.

Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable

Court may permit.
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THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE will be used at the hearing of
this motion:

43.  Affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme, to be affirmed.

44, Affidavit of John A. Wilson, to be affirmed.

45. Such further and other materials as counsel may advise and this Honourable

Court may permit.

Dated: October 27, 2022 PAPE SALTER TEILLET LLP
546 Euclid Avenue
Toronto, ON M6G 2T2
Fax: 416-916-3726

Nuri Frame (LSO #60974J)
Tel.: 416-916-1593
nframe@pstlaw.ca

Alexander DeParde (LSO #77616N)
Tel.: 416-238-7013
adeparde@pstlaw.ca

Lawyers for the Moving Party
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation
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Court File No. CV-18-594281-0000

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:

SIX NATIONS OF THE GRAND RIVER BAND OF INDIANS
Plaintiff

-and -

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF CANADA and
HIS MAJESTY THE KING IN RIGHT OF ONTARIO

Defendants

AFFIDAVIT OF R. STACEY LAFORME
Affirmed on December 2, 2022

I, R. Stacey Laforme, Chief of the Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation, in the
County of Brant, Indian Reserve New Credit 40A, in the Province of Ontario, AFFIRM

THAT:

1. My name is R. Stacey Laforme. I am a member of Mississaugas of the Credit
First Nation, which is an Indigenous community of Anishinaabe people and an
Indian Act band. I live on Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s reserve—
New Credit 40A—which is located immediately west of the town of Hagersville
in southwestern Ontario and adjacent to the reserve of Six Nations of the Grand
River Band of Indians (“Six Nations”)—Six Nations 40—which is an

Indigenous community of Haudenosaunee people and an /ndian Act band.

2. Since 2015, I have been the elected Chief of Mississaugas of the Credit First

Nation. As such, I have personal knowledge of the facts and matters deposed to
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in this affidavit, save and except where stated to be based upon information and

belief, in which case I verily believe them to be true.

I make this affidavit in support of Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s
motion for leave to intervene in Six Nations of the Grand River Band of Indians
v. The Attorney General of Canada and His Majesty the King in Right of

Ontario (“Action”) and for no other or improper purpose.

We have a responsibility to our people to ensure our history and our
connection to our territory continues for generations into the future

Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s territory extends from the Rouge River
Valley in the east, across to the headwaters of the Thames River, down to Long
Point on Lake Erie and back along the shores of Lake Erie, the Niagara River
and Lake Ontario to the Rouge River Valley. Our territory encompasses
present-day Kitchener, Niagara Falls, Hamilton, Toronto, and Six Nations’
reserve (Six Nations 40), as well as our communal lands and waters between and
surrounding the same, including the waters and lakebeds of Lake Erie and Lake
Ontario. Our territory has sustained us for countless generations and must
continue to do so for all our generations to come. A true copy of a map of
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s territory and our treaties is attached as

Exhibit “A”.

Our relationship to our territory is central to our identity and our very existence
as a people. We have been entrusted with the stewardship and care of our lands,

waters, and resources by the Creator. Just as we are sustained by our territory, so



23

must we sustain it. This is our responsibility to all of creation and to our future
generations. This sacred trust lies at the heart of who we are and how we seek to

live as Indigenous people.

Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation has Aboriginal title, Aboriginal rights,
and treaty rights across our territory. Our members use our territory for
harvesting, hunting, fishing, and cultural ceremonies. We are actively involved
in protecting the environmental and archaeological resources within our territory
to ensure our lands and waters continue to provide for the exercise of our
Aboriginal and treaty rights and to ensure the preservation of our culture and

way of life.

The responsibility of Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation as stewards of the
lands and waters of our territory is one that has been built and reinforced over
the generations of our occupancy and reliance on these lands and waters. It was
built slowly, over the years, decades, and centuries of our ancestors living on the
lands around Lakes Erie and Ontario, fishing in our waters, and travelling up
and down the rivers across our territory. It is our role and responsibility to
ensure that this history and the connection of our people to our territory
continues for generations into the future. It is this responsibility that grounds our

decision to seek leave to intervene in the Action.
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Our decision to seek leave to intervene in the Action is grounded in our
responsibility to our people and our territory

Our decision to seek leave to intervene in this Action was a difficult, but
necessary, one, and was based on our responsibility to our people and our

territory. It was not a decision we made lightly.

We have always supported—and will always support—Six Nations’ effort to
hold the government of Canada (“Canada”) and the government of Ontario
(“Ontario”) accountable for their mismanagement and abuses relating to the
lands granted to Six Nations under the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784. I
believe our support of Six Nations in its pursuit of justice is consistent with a
pattern of mutual respect between our peoples. For example, and as I explain in
more detail below, our people entered into a treaty with the Crown in 1784 that
paved the way for the Crown to grant Six Nations its lands in the Grand River
Valley—the very lands that are the subject of the Action; and in the 1840s, when
our people were driven from our village on the banks of the Credit River, Six
Nations offered us lands that have now become our reserve. Both of our peoples

have suffered immeasurably under the yoke of colonialism.

The relationship between our peoples, however, is a long and complicated one
and has also been marred by conflict. For example, in the 1600s, the
Haudenosaunee—whose territory was situated in what is now the state of New
York—invaded our ancestors’ territory in what is now Ontario in a conflict

known as the “Beaver Wars.” Our ancestors and our Anishinaabe brothers and
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sisters ultimately drove the Haudenosaunee out of our lands and back to their
territory south of Lake Ontario. While our peoples made peace in the early
1700s under a Dish with One Spoon agreement, the decades-long war remains a

significant moment in our peoples’ histories.

Unfortunately, I believe that in seeking justice for wrongs committed against it
by Canada and Ontario, Six Nations has taken aim at our people and put our
history, our rights, and our territory in its crosshairs. While we do not wish to
stand in the way of Six Nations’ pursuit of justice, the Action engages—and
denies—our people’s history within our territory and our constitutional rights

and connection to it.

For its part, the Crown—both Canada and Ontario—has relied on our people’s
history and our treaties with the Crown in this Action. The Crown is our treaty
partner, and over the centuries, it has failed to live up to its treaty commitments
to our people in many ways. Now that the Crown is relying on our treaties to its
benefit, our voice must be heard, and we must have a say in determining what

these constitutionally protected agreements mean.

We seek to intervene to ensure our story is honestly, accurately, and respectfully
told—in our voice and by our people—and that our constitutionally protected
rights and interests to and within our territory are preserved and do not become
unnecessary casualties of Six Nations’ battle for justice. To be clear, we do not
seek any damages or other compensation from the Crown in connection with its

wrongdoing in this Action, and we do not wish to diminish any compensation
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that the Crown may owe to Six Nations for the Crown’s mismanagement of Six

Nations’ lands.

I have had an opportunity to review the pleadings in this Action and I note that
Six Nations, Canada, and Ontario all refer to and rely on our history—which is
fundamental to our Aboriginal rights and connection to our territory—and our
treaties with the Crown. I also note that Six Nations claims to have treaty rights
respecting our territory, which—as I explain in more detail below—is
inconsistent with our people’s understanding of our history and

Crown-Indigenous relations within our territory.

I am deeply concerned that the Action will—by design or not—have profound
impacts on how our people relate to our territory and our ongoing relationships
with the federal and provincial Crown. Like many Indigenous peoples, our
relationship with the Crown has historically been one of broken promises. In
recent years, however, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and Canada and
Ontario have come to the negotiation table in a good faith effort to address our
outstanding claims and our unfulfilled rights within our territory, without
resorting to the courts. We are cautiously optimistic that a renewed relationship
with the Crown—based on mutual respect and understanding—will result in our
treaties finally being respected and will secure the well-being of our people for

generations to come.

Before we arrive at that goal, there is a lot of hard work that needs to be done.

This work includes working together to reach shared understandings of our
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people’s history in southern and southwestern Ontario, and shared
understandings of what legal rights and obligations our many treaties with the
Crown create. As treaty partners, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and the
Crown have—to date—Tlargely chosen to work through these issues at the

negotiation table.

If this Action addresses our history and our rights, it would inevitably impact
how the Crown approaches our ongoing negotiations and would deprive our
people of agency over our future. We seek leave to intervene to have a say in the
determination, recognition, and respect of our rights and our future relationship

with the Crown.

I am also concerned that Six Nations is using this Action to re-write history to
create treaty rights where there are none. I note that Six Nations refers to the
“Deed from the Five Nations to the King of their Beaver Hunting Ground”
(“Nanfan Deed”) of 1701 and the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784—both of
which I address in more detail below—as treaties. We are the sole Indigenous
people with treaties within and respecting our territory, except for a northern
portion of our territory with respect to which the Crown treated with our
Anishinaabe brothers and sisters. Subject to this exception, which I explain in
more detail below, our understanding as a people is that the Crown never
entered into any treaty respecting our territory with any other Indigenous people,

including Six Nations.
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The story of our territory

Since time immemorial, our ancestors and other communities of Anishinaabe
people have lived in and occupied territory in what is now Ontario. Our
ancestors’ territory included lands north and west of Lake Ontario as well as

lands along Georgian Bay and the north shore of Lake Huron.

In the 1600s, the Haudenosaunee attempted to take over the territory of our
ancestors and our Anishinaabe brothers and sisters in the Beaver Wars. At the
time of the Haudenosaunee invasion, their territory was located south of Lake

Ontario and east of the Niagara River in what is now the state of New York.

In the decades that followed, our ancestors left their settlements on Lake Huron
to repel the invasion. Our ancestors travelled down the trail known as the
Toronto Carrying Place, which extended from Georgian Bay across Lake
Simcoe and down the Holland and Humber Rivers to Lake Ontario. Our
ancestors fought—alongside our Anishinaabe brothers and sisters—and
ultimately defeated the Haudenosaunee, driving them back to their territory in

what is now the state of New York.

After the defeat of the Haudenosaunee in the Beaver Wars, our ancestors settled
in, occupied, used, and controlled the territory that extends from the Rouge
River Valley in the east, across to the headwaters of the Thames River in the
west, down to Long Point on Lake Erie and back along the shores of Lake Erie,

the Niagara River, and Lake Ontario to the Rouge River Valley. Mississaugas of
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the Credit First Nation is the direct descendant of our ancestors who settled in

this part of our territory.

Our ancestors put down roots along the north shore of Lake Ontario and
adjacent lands and waterways. In establishing exclusive control of our territory,
our ancestors held a position of prominence and authority in the trade routes
through what is now Toronto and across the lands between and waters of Lakes

Erie and Ontario.

Our ancestors followed a yearly cycle of movement and resource harvesting
throughout our territory in seasonal rounds. In winter months, extended family
groups dispersed across our territory to hunt large and small game. This

provided both food and pelts for commercial trade.

In spring, families moved to sugar bushes to tap maple trees. Following the
maple harvest, families congregated at the Credit River to deliver the furs and
pelts they had harvested over the winter, and to fish for salmon, which were
abundant in that waterway. Fishing was supplemented by hunting small game

and fowl.

Our ancestors also planted corn and other vegetables and collected a variety of
wild foods including berries, mushrooms, and wild rice. In fall, our ancestors
often returned to the Credit River to fish for salmon and obtain credit, in the

form of trade foods, for the furs that would be harvested over the coming winter.
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Our Aboriginal rights within our territory

Like our ancestors before us, we continue to use the lands, waters, and
watershed ecosystems within our territory for a variety of purposes, including
harvesting, ceremonial, and spiritual purposes. Mississaugas of the Credit First
Nation is also extensively involved in protecting the spiritual, cultural, and
heritage value of archaeological resources within our territory through close

monitoring.

We have always exercised governance functions and stewardship in order to
protect our territory, conserve the fish and wildlife that depend on it, and ensure
its ongoing ability to sustain our people. Our Aboriginal rights entitle us to
continue to act as stewards of our territory, to be involved in decisions that
affect it, and to participate in the ongoing, responsible management of the

resources it provides.

Our territory is the source of our identity as a First Nation and the base for our
many cultural activities and spiritual ceremonies. It is home to sacred sites,
burial grounds, traditional teaching and meeting places, and sites of profound
archaeological and historical significance. Our Aboriginal rights entitle us to

preserve and exercise our culture and heritage.

The ways in which our territory has supported us have changed over time. Our
ancestors hunted, trapped, fished, grew crops, gathered wild foods, and tapped

maple trees. When Europeans arrived, our ancestors became involved in the

10
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commercial fur trade. Like all other cultures, communities, and nations, we
continue to evolve our economies and our relationship to and reliance on the
land. Our Aboriginal rights entitle us to support ourselves economically through
the lands, waters, and resources of our territory, now and in the future, and in
modern and evolving ways. This includes the right to share in the wealth and

benefits our territory generates.

Despite the long history of treaty making with the Crown, Mississaugas of the
Credit First Nation still has Aboriginal title to a tract of land in and around the
Rouge River Valley. We also have Aboriginal title to all water, land under
water, and floodplains in our territory. We have submitted claims in respect of
our Aboriginal title to Canada and Ontario and have advised Canada and Ontario
of our title and of the duty to consult and accommodate that arises before any
government action that could affect or impair our title. A true copy of the

April 6, 2015, letter from Chief B. LaForme to the Honourable B. Valcourt and

the Honourable D. Zimmer is attached as Exhibit “B”.

Our historical relationships with Six Nations and the Crown

I now return to our people’s nation-to-nation relationships with Six Nations and
the Crown. I do not intend or purport to provide an exhaustive history of these
relationships and the agreements flowing from them. Our relationships are
complex and have spanned centuries and will continue into the future. Instead,
my intention is to provide an overview of our people’s history with Six Nations

and the Crown for the purposes of our motion for leave to intervene.

11
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i. The end of the Beaver Wars and the expulsion of the
Haudenosaunee from our territory

Toward the end of the Beaver Wars, our ancestors and our Anishinaabe brothers
and sisters had driven the Haudenosaunee back to their territory south of Lake

Ontario and east of the Niagara River in what is now the state of New York.

In or around June 1700, representatives of our ancestors and our Anishinaabe
brothers and sisters met with representatives of the Haudenosaunee in Onondaga
to negotiate an end to the Beaver Wars. They reached a peace agreement whose
underlying principals have ancient roots—known as a Dish with One Spoon
agreement—which was recorded in a wampum belt. Our Dish with One Spoon
set out the terms upon which our ancestors and the Haudenosaunee would
respect each other’s respective territories; namely, the Haudenosaunee could
pass through and use our territory with our agreement. It did not grant ownership

or control over our territory to the Haudenosaunee.

In the summer of 1701, representatives of our ancestors, their Anishinaabe
brothers and sisters, the Haudenosaunee, and the French convened in Montreal
to engage in further peace discussions. As a result of discussions over a
two-week period, the Dish with One Spoon was reaffirmed, and the parties
present entered into a further agreement: the Great Peace of Montreal. Like the
Dish with One Spoon, the Great Peace of Montreal set out terms of peace that

solidified the end of the Beaver Wars; it did not grant ownership or control over

12
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our territory to the Haudenosaunee. A true copy of the Great Peace of Montreal

1s attached as Exhibit “C”.

At the same time as peace discussions were taking place in Montreal, Lieutenant
Governor John Nanfan, the representative of the British Crown in New York,
asked for a meeting with the Haudenosaunee in Albany. The Haudenosaunee
sent a small delegation to meet with Lieutenant Governor Nanfan and on

July 19, 1701, the parties signed a document known as Nanfan Deed under
which the Haudenosaunee purported to place our territory under the protection
of the British Crown. These are the very lands from which the Haudenosaunee
were expelled by our ancestors and our Anishinaabe brothers and sisters at the
end of the Beaver Wars. As such, it is questionable what rights to our territory
the Haudenosaunee could have even conveyed in the Nanfan Deed. A true copy

of the Nanfan Deed is attached as Exhibit “D”.

After the end of the Beaver Wars, the Haudenosaunee did not return to our

territory in any permanent way until 1784, as I explain in more detail below.

ii. Our people’s treaties with the Crown

On October 7, 1763, King George III issued a Royal Proclamation (“Royal
Proclamation”). Although not a treaty, the Royal Proclamation recognized the
pre-existing rights and sovereignty of Indigenous peoples and established that
such rights could be ceded only to the Crown. In doing so, the Royal

Proclamation confirmed that the Crown was solely responsible for

13
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treaty-making. A true copy of the Royal Proclamation is attached

as Exhibit “E”.

Following the Royal Proclamation, the Crown pursued lands from our ancestors
to accommodate the influx of settlers, including loyalists fleeing the United
States following the American Revolution and arriving in our territory. Between
1781 and 1820, our ancestors and the Crown entered into a series of treaties
respecting our territory, including those set out below. I am not aware of the
Crown entering into treaties with any other Indigenous people with respect to

our territory, subject to the exception I indicated above.

Our history during this time is characterized by a patchwork of treaties and
agreements with the Crown over parcels of land in our territory. Through these
treaties, our ancestors sought to ensure that we would continue to be able to
draw sustenance from the lands, waters, and resources on which our people had

long relied.

Our treaty rights reflect our unique historical, cultural, and spiritual relationship
to our territory and our special relationship with the Crown. Our relationship
with the Crown is based on our treaties, solemn agreements between our people
and the Crown to share access to the land, preserve peace, and protect our way
of life as a First Nation within our territory. By signing treaties, our ancestors
never intended to become subjects of the Crown. Our treaties were not intended
to, and did not, sever our connection to our territory, or give up our right to be

sustained by our lands, waters, and resources.

14
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1L Treaty at Niagara (1781)

In July 1780, Governor Frederick Haldimand, the Governor of the Province of
Quebec (which at the time included what is now the province of Ontario) issued
instructions to Colonel Guy Johnson, an Indian Department official, to purchase
a strip of our ancestors’ land four miles wide on the west side of the Niagara

River, from Lake Ontario to Lake Erie.

On or around May 9, 1781, representatives of our ancestors met with
representatives of the Crown and entered into the Treaty at Niagara under which
our people conveyed certain rights to a tract of land west of the Niagara River
from Lake Ontario to Lake Erie to the Crown. A true copy of the Treaty at

Niagara is attached as Exhibit “F”.

2. Between the Lakes Purchase (1784) and Purchase No. 3 (1792)

At the end of the American Revolution, Six Nations’ ancestors—who had fought
alongside the British in that conflict—found their territory under American
control. In 1784, in recognition of Six Nations’ ancestors’ support during the
American Revolution, the Crown offered to resettle their community in the
Grand River Valley in what is now southwestern Ontario, which is in the core of

our people’s territory.

However, in 1784, the Crown had not treated with our ancestors for any of our
lands, except under the Treaty at Niagara. The Crown’s offer to Six Nations’

ancestors could not be implemented until it obtained rights to the lands of the

15
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Grand River Valley from our ancestors. To give effect to its promise to Six
Nations, the Crown sought to acquire a further tract of land from our ancestors
for the use of Six Nations and other loyalists who were immigrating to Canada

following their displacement by the American Revolution.

In 1784, our ancestors agreed that they would transfer a tract of land lying
between Lake Erie and Lake Huron, including 550,000 acres along the Grand
River that was later granted to Six Nations. This agreement was enshrined in the
Between the Lakes Purchase treaty, which granted the Crown certain rights to
our lands. After the Crown acquired rights to the Grand River Valley, it granted
six miles on either side of the Grand River to Six Nations’ ancestors under the

Haldimand Proclamation of 1784.

In 1792, a new document was prepared setting out a detailed description of the
lands our ancestors were said to have granted in 1784 because of an error in the
boundary description. Five Mississauga Chiefs confirmed the new document,

which became known as Purchase No. 3. A true copy of the Between the Lakes

Purchase and Purchase No. 3 is attached as Exhibit “G”.

3. Brant Tract No. 3% (1795) and Treaty No. 8 (1797)

Sometime between 1791 and 1795, the Crown informed Six Nations leader
Captain Joseph Brant he could choose 3,450 acres of land in payment for his
service and loyalty to the British during the American Revolution. Captain Brant

selected a tract of our ancestors’ lands at Burlington Bay.

16
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To give effect to Captain Brant’s selection, in 1795 and 1797, our ancestors and
the Crown entered into the Brant Tract No. 3%+—a provisional agreement—and
Treaty No. 8, respectively, which dealt with the lands selected by Captain Brant,
which the Crown later transferred to him. A true copy of Brant Tract No. 3% is

attached as Exhibit “H”. A true copy of Treaty No. 8 is attached as Exhibit “I”.

4. The Toronto Purchase (1787), the Gunshot Treaty (1788), and Toronto
Purchase No. 13 (1805)

In the late 1700s, the Crown was also seeking lands along the north shore of
Lake Ontario between Quinte and Toronto to accommodate settlement. In 1787,
Sir John Johnson, the Superintendent of Indian Affairs, met with our ancestors
and purported to negotiate the Toronto Purchase (“Toronto Purchase (1787)”)
The deed was left blank, however, and did not include a description of the
boundaries of the lands to be treated for. When a survey was attempted in 1788,
it became clear that there was no agreement as to the eastern and western

boundaries.

In 1788, Crown officials proposed another land purchase to our ancestors, this
time for the lands along the north shore of Lake Ontario from the eastern
boundary of the Toronto Purchase (1787) to the Bay of Quinte, and as far north
as Lake Simcoe and Rice Lake. Although the Crown claimed to have reached an
agreement with our ancestors, known as the Gunshot Treaty, once again there

was no deed. The Gunshot Treaty was not recorded in writing.

17
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In 1793, the town of York—present-day Toronto—was named the capital of the
new colony of Upper Canada. By 1794, colonial officials were aware that the
Toronto Purchase (1787) was invalid and the Crown did not have legal title to

the land on which the town was located.

It was not until 1805 under the Toronto Purchase No. 13 that a deed was
executed for the Toronto Purchase (1787). Although the Toronto Purchase

No. 13 was portrayed as being simply a “confirmation” of the Toronto Purchase
(1787), it encompassed far more land, including what are now the Toronto
Islands. This area was and remains a site of profound spiritual significance for
our people and was never intended to form part of Toronto Purchase No. 13.
Moreover, Toronto Purchase No. 13 included an express provision that protected
our exclusive right to fish on the Etobicoke River. A true copy of Toronto

Purchase (1787) and Toronto Purchase No. 13 is attached as Exhibit “J”.

5. Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14 (1806)

Immediately after signing Toronto Purchase No. 13, the Crown asked our
ancestors to treat for additional land along Lake Ontario, extending from the
Etobicoke River—the western boundary of Toronto Purchase No. 13—to the
tract of land that had been sold to Captain Brant. At that time, our ancestors
expressed concern about the amount of land our people were being asked to treat

for.

18
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In the face of continued encroachment by settlers, our ancestors agreed in 1806
to transfer the land the Crown sought. The treaty—known as the Head of the
Lake Treaty No. 14—expressly reserved lands on either side of the Credit River,
Twelve Mile Creek (also known as Bronte Creek), and Sixteen Mile Creek,
along with exclusive fishing rights on those waterways. Toronto Purchase

No. 13, in 1805, had similarly included an express provision that reserved to our
people the exclusive right to fish on the Etobicoke River. By reserving lands and
fishing grounds for our exclusive use, our ancestors sought to ensure that we
would continue to be able to draw sustenance from the lands, waters, and
resources on which our people had long relied. A true copy of the Head of the

Lake Treaty No. 14 is attached as Exhibit “K”.

6. Ajetance Treaty No. 19 (1818)

As of the date of the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14, our ancestors and the
Crown had not treated for approximately 648,000 acres of hunting grounds
bounded by the lands subject to the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14 in the south
and the unceded territory of the Chippewa of Lakes Huron and Simcoe to the

north.

In October 1818, the Chippewa of Lakes Huron and Simcoe ceded their territory
north of these hunting grounds to the Crown. As a result, our ancestors found

themselves with three reserves near the Lake Ontario shore and roughly 648,000
acres of land sandwiched between already ceded territory to the north and south,

parts of which were rapidly filling with settlers. Our traditional economy had

19
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been destroyed, and constant encroachment on our reserves and fisheries

weakened our subsistence. Our population was in rapid decline.

By the end of October 1818, the Crown sought to purchase the 648,000 acres of
our hunting grounds north of the lands subject to the Head of the Lake Treaty
No. 14. In October 1818, Licutenant Governor William Claus met with our
assembled chiefs—Iled by Chief Ajetance—and proposed to treat for our hunting
grounds north of the Head of the Lake Treaty No. 14 in exchange for annual
payments of goods. On October 28, 1818, Chief Ajetance—on behalf of
assembled Mississauga chiefs—accepted the proposal. Our ancestors and the
Crown entered into the Ajetance Treaty No. 19, a true copy of which is attached

as Exhibit “L”.

7. Treaties No. 22 and 23 (1820)

Despite the Crown’s promise of protection, our reserves and fisheries were
encroached upon and our people suffered. In 1819, the Lieutenant Governor of
Upper Canada requested a full report about the extent of our people’s reserved
tracts of land, the number of occupants, and whether we could be accommodated
elsewhere. Deputy Superintendent General William Claus responded, and

recommended against depriving our people of our reserves.

Despite this recommendation, in June 1819, Major James Givens, the

Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the York area, met with our chief—Chief

20



61.

62.

63.

41

Acheton—and advised he had been directed to seek our reserves. At that time,

Chief Acheton refused to agree to the proposal.

In February 1820, a second meeting was held. At this meeting, our people and
the Crown entered into Treaties No. 22 and 23, under which Mississaugas of the
Credit First Nation agreed to treat for the remainder of our reserves at Twelve
Mile Creek, Sixteen Mile Creek, and most of our lands on the Credit River—on
the understanding they would be held by the Crown to meet our future needs.
True copies of Treaties No. 22 and 23 are attached as Exhibits “M” and “N”,

respectively.

Instead of preserving the lands, the Crown sold them. During the years
following Treaties No. 22 and 23, our people wrote petitions to the Crown

asking for the fulfillment of the Crown’s promises to no avail.

iii. The renewal of the Dish with One Spoon and our resettlement in the
Grand River Valley at the invitation of Six Nations

Following Treaties No. 22 and 23, in 1826 our people established the Credit
River Mission Village—Ilocated on the west bank of the Credit River opposite a
200-acre parcel of land reserved for us in Treaty No. 22—and cleared 600 acres
in the area for farms. Our people wanted to secure this land as our reserve, and
over the following years we repeatedly petitioned the Crown for a deed. The

Crown refused.

21
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At a week-long council meeting in January 1840, which was also attended by
Six Nations, Samuel Peter Jarvis, Chief Superintendent of Indian Affairs for
Upper Canada, explained that the Crown’s reason for not providing a deed was
because of fears we would dispose of the lands and be susceptible to fraud by

settlers.

At this same council meeting, our people and Six Nations renewed our Dish

with One Spoon agreement of 1700.

Without a deed to our land on the Credit River and faced by further settler
encroachment, we began the process of looking for land upon which to resettle.
In the 1840s, we considered several locations, including at Saugeen, Rice Lake,

and the Thames River.

In 1847——consistent with the renewal of our Dish with One Spoon agreement
and in recognition of our ancestors’ role in granting Six Nations their lands
along the Grand River Valley in 1784—Six Nations extended an invitation to
our people to come and live on their reserve in the Grand River Valley in the
very lands they were granted under the Haldimand Proclamation of 1784. The

tract of land to which we relocated is now our reserve—New Credit 40A.

Our process of rebuilding a nation-to-nation relationship with the Crown

For more than 200 years, the Crown’s treaty promises have gone largely
unfulfilled or been broken. Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation has been

progressively dispossessed of our lands and resources, displaced within our own
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territory, and deprived of any share of the wealth and benefits that others have
taken. Today, our territory, situated within the region referred to as the “golden
horseshoe,” has become densely populated, heavily urbanized, and

industrialized.

In 1998, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation filed a claim against Canada
relating to breaches of the Toronto Purchase No. 13. We asserted that the Crown
unlawfully acquired more land—including the Toronto Islands—than had been
originally agreed upon in the Toronto Purchase (1787) and that the Crown had
not paid a reasonable sum for the land obtained in Toronto Purchase No. 13. In
2010, Canada settled this claim and a further claim relating to Brant Tract

No. 3% and Treaty No. 8 for compensation of $145 million—at that time the

largest land claim settlement in Canadian history.

In recent years, we have entered into various agreements with the Crown
establishing confidential negotiations and other processes to settle our people’s
outstanding claims and in furtherance of the Crown’s treaty and other

constitutional obligations to Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation.

The scope and content of these processes are determined, in part, by our
Aboriginal and treaty rights, our outstanding claims against the Crown, and the
scope and content of the Crown’s duties to Mississaugas of the Credit First
Nation that flow from the honour of the Crown. To the extent this Action
engages these matters, our ongoing reconciliation-oriented processes with the

Crown will be impacted.
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On June 9, 2017, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and Canada entered
into the “Memorandum of Understanding — Recognition of Indigenous Rights
and Self-Determination Table” (“Recognition of Rights MOU™). In the
Recognition of Rights MOU, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and
Canada agreed to establish negotiations with the objective of “explor[ing] new
approaches to understanding and implementing the treaties between
[Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation] and Canada, new governance models,
and the resolution of [Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s] outstanding
claims.” The content of the negotiations established under the Recognition of
Rights MOU are confidential. A true copy of the Recognition of Rights MOU is

attached as Exhibit “O”.

On September 6, 2018, and as a result of the negotiations held pursuant to the
Recognition of Rights MOU, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and
Canada entered into the Consultation Protocol Agreement. Under the
Consultation Protocol Agreement, Canada recognized that “a federal duty to
consult may arise in relation to a proposed federal activity or decision that may
have an adverse impact on the treaty rights or Aboriginal rights including title
claims of the [Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation].” To fulfill this
constitutional duty and to preserve the outstanding section 35 rights of
Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation pending final resolution, Canada agreed
to follow the consultation process set out in the Consultation Protocol
Agreement. A true copy of the Consultation Protocol Agreement is attached to

this affidavit as Exhibit “P”.

24



74.

45

On August 28, 2019, and as a result of the negotiations held pursuant to the
Recognition of Rights MOU, Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation and
Canada entered into the Preliminary Agreement to Advance Reconciliation and
Establish a Renewed Relationship (“Preliminary Reconciliation Agreement”).
Under the Preliminary Reconciliation Agreement, Mississaugas of the Credit

First Nation and Canada agreed to establish a negotiation process to:

1.1.1. Jointly develop a renewed nation-to-nation and
government-to-government relationship between the
Canada and [Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation] that
advances reconciliation between the Parties consistent
with the purpose of section 35 of the Constitution Act,
1982; and

1.1.2  Engage in without-prejudice, non-binding discussions to
reach shared understandings on:

a) renewing concepts of governance, including
incremental approaches for [Mississaugas of the
Credit First Nation] to adopt new forms of
governance outside of the Indian Act;

b) innovative approaches to implementing
[Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation]’s Rights
in modern and evolving ways, including through
shared-decision making and a renewed fiscal
relationship that works toward [Mississaugas of
the Credit First Nation] having fair and ongoing
access to their lands, territory and resources to
support its traditional economies and to share
equitably in the wealth generated from those lands
and resources; and

C) [Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation]’s
Aboriginal Title Claims.
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The content of the negotiations established by the Preliminary Reconciliation
Agreement are confidential. A true copy of the Preliminary Reconciliation

Agreement is attached to this affidavit as Exhibit “Q”.

Conclusion

Our struggle to have a say in our future as an Indigenous people has always been
driven and informed by our responsibility to current and future generations to
ensure our history and constitutionally protected connection to our territory
continues. While in recent years our fulfillment of this responsibility has been
advanced out of court at the negotiation table—which, in my view, best ensures
we are in the driver’s seat in advancing our rights and interests—I believe the
circumstances of this Action require our participation. This belief is

compounded by the fact all the parties rely on our rights and our history.

We support Six Nations’ fight for justice. Our intent in participating in the
Action—if our request to intervene is granted—is simply to ensure our history is
honestly and accurately portrayed and that our constitutional rights and interests
and connection to our territory are not adversely impacted in the process.
Anything less than seeking leave to intervene in this Action would fall short of

our sacred responsibility to our people.
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78. I affirm this affidavit in support of Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation’s

motion for leave to intervene in this Action and for no other or improper

purpose.

AFFIRMED BEFORE ME in
person on the 2nd day of December
2022 in the City of Toronto, Province

of Ontarlo /

/ A(fexander DeParde
’ LSO #77616N

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits

/
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This is Exhibit “A” to the affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme,
affirmed before me on December 2, 2022

=

/ '
7 / / /UAlexander DeParde

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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This is Exhibit “B” to the affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme,
affirmed before me on December 2, 2022

A

sl
T / '/ Alexander DeParde

{ Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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Mississaugas of

The New Credit First Nation

2789 Mississauga Rd., Tel. 1-905-768-1133
R.R. 6 Hagersville, Ontario NOA 1HO Fax 1-905-768-1225

April 6, 2015

Advance copy sent by Fax: 613-996-9736

The Honourable Bernard Valcourt

Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada
Terrasses de la Chaudiére

10 Wellington, North Tower

Ottawa, Ontario

K1A ORH4

Advance copy sent by Fax: 416-314-2701

The Honourable David Zimmer
MINISTER'S OFFICE

Ministry of Aboriginal Affairs
Suite 400

160 Bloor St E

Toronto ON M7A2E6

Dear Sirs:

Re: The Mississaugas of the New Credit First Nation:Unextinguished
Aboriginal Title To All Water In Our Traditional Territory and to the
Rouge River Valley Tract

The Mississaugas of the New Credit First Nation (MNCFN) are the
descendents of the “River Credit” Mississaugas. At all times from the
conquest of the French in 1759, from the first Treaty taken with the
Mississaugas in 1764 at Niagara, through to the land surrenders of the 19"
century, the British Crown recognized the Mississaugas as the Indians with
title to what is now most of southern Ontario.
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Based on descriptions from the Rev. Peter Jones (a River Credit member)
from 1848 and 1855, and from the “Paper Talk” sent to the Governor
General by Chiefs Joseph Sawyer and John Jones in 1844, the River Credit
territory extends from the Rouge River Valley in the east, across to the
headwaters of the Thames River, down to Long Point on Lake Erie and back
along the shores of Lake Erie, the Niagara River and Lake Ontario to the
Rouge River Valley.

We hereby assert and put all concerned on notice that we have
unextinguished aboriginal title to all water in our traditional territory. At
no time have we or our ancestors surrendered our aboriginal title to the water
in our lands. The many Treaties that we signed with the British Crown are
silent on water, but our water was discussed with representatives of the
Crown. Our ancestors were told that the Crown was not interested in our
water and that the Treaties dealt only with our land.

On July 31, 1805, Chief Quenepenon of the River Credit reminded William
Claus, Deputy Superintendent General Department of Indian Affairs (and
the government official who led the 1805 negotiations with the
Mississaugas) that in earlier treaties they had been told: “We do niot want the

water, we want the land” (Proceeding of a Meeting with the Mississaugues
at the Credit River, 31% July, 1805, PAC, RG 10. Vol. 1 pp 290-292).

The necessary research is well under way and we will be submitting a claim
to Canada and Ontario to all water, land under water and floodplains, in our
traditional territory. In the meantime the Crown “duty to consult” applies to
all water, land under water and floodplains, contained in all of our traditional
territory and will continue to apply until this matter is resolved.

In addition we will shortly be submitting a claim to Canada and Ontario to
the Rouge River Valley Tract (RRVT). The RRVT lies to the east of the
Toronto Purchase Treaty and it does not form part of any other Treaty or
land surrender entered into by MNCFN and its predecessors.

The RRVT was included, although perhaps only partially, in the “Gunshot
Treaty” in 1788. The Gunshot Treaty is invalid and was considered as such
by successive governments in what is now Ontario. The RRVT does fall
within the boundaries of the 1923 Williams Treaty, but MNCFN is not a
signatory to that Treaty. MNCFN leaders consistently complained that they
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had never surrendered their lands east of Toronto Purchase and further that
they had never been paid for those lands.

The RRVT claim is based on the fact that the Rouge River Valley Tract
forms part of the territory of the direct ancestors of MNCFN and the fact the
that the Rouge River Valley Tract has never been lawfully surrendered by
MNCEFN or its ancestors.

As a result MNCFN hereby asserts that it maintains unextinguished
aboriginal tile to the Rouge River Valley Tract. Canada and Ontario need to
negotiate a Treaty or Agreement that deals with the MNCFN'’s interest in the
RRVT.

In the meantime the Crown “duty to consult” applies to all land, water, land
under water and floodplains, contained in the RRVT and will continue to

apply until this matter is resolved.

Representatives of MNCFN would be pleased to meet with you to discuss
these issues.

Yours truly

Chief Bryan LaForme
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This is Exhibit “C” to the affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme,
affirmed before me on December 2, 2022

AJA

* 7 /7  Alexander DeParde

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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This is Exhibit “D” to the affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme,
affirmed before me on December 2, 2022

A

/Alexander DeParde

A . ommissioner for Taking Affidavits
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Deed from the Five Nations to the Ning of their Beaver Hunting Ground.
[New-York Papers. Bundle, P. Q.; Q 49.]

To all Christian & Indian people in this parte of the world and in Eurepe over the great
salt waters, to whom the presents shall come — Wee the Sachims Chiel men, Capt™ aud
representatives of the TFive nations or Cantons of Indians called the Maquase Oneydes
Ounnandages and Sinnekes living in the Government of New Yorke in America, to the north
west of Albany on this side the Lake Cadarachqui sendeth greeting— Bee it known unto
vou that our ancestors to our certain knowledge have had, time out of mind a fierce and bloody
warr with seaven nations of Indians called the Aragaritkas' whose Chief comand was called
successively Chohahise —The land is scitnate Iyeing and being worthwest and by west from
Albany beginning on the south west? side of Cadarachqui lake and includes all that waste
Tract of Land lyeing between the great lake off Ottowawa® and the lake called by the natives
Sahigquage and by the Christians the lake of Swege? and runns tifl it butts upon the Twichtwichs
and is bounded on the right hand by a place called Quadoge® conteigning in length about eight
Liundred miles and in bredth four hundred wiles including the conntry where the bevers the
deers, Elks and such beasts keep and the place called Tieugsaclirondio, alias Fort de Tret
or wawyachtenok and so runs round the lake of swege till you come to place called
Oniadarondaquat which is abont twenty miles from the Sinnekes Castles which said seaven
nations our predecessors did four score years agoe totally conquer and subdue and drove them
out of that country and had peaceable and quiet possession of the same to hunt heavers
{which was the motive cansed us to war for the same) for three score years it being the
oy chief place for hunting in this parte of the world that ever wee heard of and after that
wee had been sixty years sole masters and owners of the said land enjoying peaceable hunting
without any internegotion, a remmant of one of the seaven nations called Tionondade whom

! Tlurons. 2 North west. See next page. 3 Lalke Huron, 4 Lake Lrie.

© At the hond of Lake Michigan. Aitchell's Map of North America, 1755, Now, Chicago, aceording to Map of the Brifish
Dominiona in North America, 1763, prefixed to Charlevoiz’s Voyages, 8vo., Dublin, 1766, — En.
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wee had expelled and drove away came and settled there twenty years agoe disturbed our
beaver hunting against which nation wee have warred ever since and would have subdued
them long ere now had not they been assisted and succoured by the Irench of Cuuada, and
whereas the Governour of Canada aforesaid hath lately sent a considerable force to a place
cailed Tjeughsaghronde the principall passe that commands said land to build a Forte there
without our leave and consent, by which means they will possess themselves of that excellent
country where there is not only a very goad soile but great plenty of all maver of wild beasts
in such quantities that there is no maner of trouble in Kkilling of them and also will be sole
masters of the Boar! hunting whereby wee shall be deprived ot our livelyhood and subsistance
and brought to perpetual bondage aud slavery, and wee having subjected ourselves and lands
on this side of Cadarachqui lake wholy to the Crown of England wee the said Sachims chicf
men Capt™ and representatives of the Five nations after mature deliberation out of a deep
sence of the many Royall favours extended to us by the present great Monarch of England
King William the third, and in consideration also that wee have lived peaceably and quietly
with the people of albany our fellow subjects above eighty years when wee first made a lirm
league and covenant chain with these Christians that first came to settle Albany oun this
river which covenant chain hath been yearly renewed and kept bright and clear by all the
Governours successively and many neighbouring Governm® of English and nations of Indians
bave since upon their request been admitted into the same. Wee say upon these and many
other good motives us bereunto moveing have freely and volumtary surrendered delivered up
and for ever quit claimed, and by these presents doe for us our heires and successors absolutely
surrender, deliver up and for ever quit claime nnto our great Lord and Master the King of
England called by us Corachkoo and by the Christians William the third and to his heires and
successors Kings and Queens of England for ever all the right title and interest and all the
claime and demand whatsoever which wee the said five nations of Indiaus called the Maquase,
Oneydes, Onnondages, Cayouges and Sinnekes now have or which wee ever had or that our
heirs or successors at any time hereafter may or ought to have of in or to all that vast Tract
of land or Colony called Canagariarchio beginning ou the northwest side of Cadarachqui Jake
and includes all that vast tract of land lyeing between the great lake off Ottawawa aud the
lake called by the natives Cahiquage and by the Christians the lake of Swege and runaos till
it butts upon the Twichtwichs and is bounded on the westward by the Twichtwichs by a place
called Quadoge conteining in length abont eight bundred miles and in breath four hundred
miles including the Country where Beavers and all sorts of wild game keeps and the place
called Tjeughsaghrondie alias Fort de tret or Wawyachtenock and so runus round the lake of
Swege till you come to a place called Ouiadarundaquat which is about twenty miles from the
Sinnekes castles inciuding likewise the great falls oakinagaro, all which [wag] formerly posest
by seaven nations of Indians called the Aragaritka whom by a fair warr wee subdued and drove
from thence four score years agoe bringing many of them captives to our country and soe
became to be the true owners of the same by conquest which said land is scituate Iyeing and
beiug as is above expressed with the whole soyle the lakes the rivers and all things pertaining
to the said tract of land or colony with power to erect Forts and castles there, soe that wee
the said Five nations nor our heires nor any other persou or persons for us by any ways or
meanes hereafter have claime challenge and demand of in or to the premises or any parte
thereof alwayes provided and it is hereby expected that wee are to have [ree hunting for ns
and the heires and descendants from us the Five nations for ever and that free of all

1 Sic. qui Deaver. —Eo.
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disturbances expecting to be protected therein by the Crown of England but from all the
action right title interest and demand of in or to the premises or every of them shall and will
be uterly excluded and debarred for ever by these presents and wee the said Sachims of the
Five Nations of Indians called the Maquase, Oneydes, Onnandages, Cayouges and Sinnekes
and our heires the said tract of land or Colony, lakes and rivers and premises and every part
and parcell thereot with their and every of their appurtenances unto our souveraigne Lord the
King William the third & his heires and successors Kings of England to his and their proper
use and uses against us our heires and all and every other person lawfully claiming by from or
under us the said Five nations shall and will warrant and for ever defend by these presents —
In Witness whereof wee the Sachims of the Five nations above mentioned in behalf of
ourselves and the Five nations have signed and sealed this present Instrument and delivered
the same as an Act and deed to the Houn"* John Nanfan Esq' Lieut* Gov' to our Great King
in this province whom wee call Corlaer in the presence of all the Magistrates officers and other
inhabitants of Albany praying our Brother Corlaer to send it over to Carachkoo our dread
souveraigne Lord and that he would be graciously pleased to accept of the same Actum
in Albany in the middle of the high street this nineteenth day of July in the thirteenth year
of His Maj¥* reign Annoque Domini 170L.

SINNEKES SACHIMS CAYOUGES SACHIMS

Sodsio wanune (L S.).

Tehonwaren genie (L.s).
(5 : :

Sonahso h::‘ wanne (Ls). Thodsino g Jjago— (L s).

Tosoquat %}hoa (z5). Nijuch 5)/22 sagentisquoa (L s.).
ONNANDAGE SACHIMS
MAQUASE SACHINS
Tegach % nawadiqua (r s.)
Taige ‘,&‘ go (rs. Kach H wadochon (L s).
Onucher @__ anorum (L s). '
Taga Htsehede (Ls).

Teoni Y%/Ej\ ahigarawe Sade ff———— ganasttie (L s)
alias Hendrik (r s). Ach N rireho (L s).

Tirogaren ﬁ’ alias Cornelis (v s). OXEYDE SACHIMS
Dega ronda (Ls).
swon T quireso (u5). m

Canada ¢"/\ gariaz (L s ).
Tanoch w rachhoss (1 s). 7"/(

Tio m rachkoe (L s).



65

LONDON DOCUMENTS: XIV, o111

Sealed and delivered in the presence of us
I’ Seliayler
J Jansen Bleeker Mayor
Joh* Bleeker Recorder
John Abeel Alderman
Johannes Schuyler Alder®
David schuyler Alderm®
Wessells ten Broek Alderman
Johannes Hoseboom Alderman

this is a true Copy

Johannes Cuyler Alderman

Dyrk Wessels justice

James Weemes

Jonathan Broadhurst high Sheriff’

M. Clarkson Seceretary

8 Clows Surveyor

I Livingston Seeretary for the [ndian affares
John Baptist van Eps

Lawrence Claese } UL

(Signed). Joun Nanran
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This is Exhibit “E” to the affidavit of R. Stacey Laforme,
affirmed before me on December 2, 2022

’ / Mexander DeParde

— /

A Commissioner for Taking Affidavits
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